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1. The claimant's appeal is allowed. The decision of the Southport social security appeal tribunal dated 25 September 1991 is erroneous in point of law, for the reasons given below, and I set it aside. The appeal is referred to a differently constituted social security appeal tribunal for determination in accordance with the directions given in paragraphs 33 to 39 below (Social Security Administration Act 1992, section 23(7)(b)). 

The background 
2. This appeal stems from the claim for income support made on 22 June 1989. The claimant was then aged 88. Apart from her other health problems, she was partially sighted. She had been admitted to a nursing home from hospital on 22 June 1989 for a four week trial period. She had spent several short periods in nursing homes or rest homes over the previous few years. Her home was a flat, , of which she was the legal owner and where she lived on her own. According to the claim form, the claimant had savings of £2,500. She was also receiving retirement pension and attendance allowance. Income support was apparently awarded. 

3. On the claim form was a note signed by the administrator of the nursing home, who had obviously completed the answers on the claim form, to say that the trial was with a view to permanent care and that if "she decides to stay her family will sell her flat". The claimant's son was dealing with her financial affairs, and the Department of Social Security made a series of enquiries to him about the claimant's intentions relating to                    . According to the records in the papers before the appeal tribunal, in a telephone call on 12 July 1989 he said that the claimant had gone into the nursing home temporarily, but might be staying in permanently as she was deteriorating. In a written reply dated 18 July 1989 to an enquiry, he said that it was not the claimant's intention to stay in the nursing home permanently and the family was trying to find someone to look after her at home. In a telephone call of 31 August 1989 he said that the claimant would be staying in the nursing home for the time being, but it was hoped that the stay would not be permanent and that she would be returning home in the near future. On 2 February 1990, in reply to an enquiry, the claimant's son wrote that she was still in the nursing home and that she would not be returning to her flat. The family was trying to find her a suitable permanent retirement home. The Department wrote asking whether the flat was then to be sold. The claimant's son replied on 2 March 1990 that the flat had been placed on the market, but as yet there was little interest. He said that there was a possibility that his sister, who was a part owner of the flat, might have to move in temporarily. With a letter dated 23 April 1990, following a letter and a telephone conversation not recorded in the papers, the claimant's son sent a copy of a transfer dated 4 August 1989 of from the claimant to her son and daughter. The letter said that it was only about six to eight weeks previously that the claimant had decided that she was not returning home and that the decision to transfer the flat had been made many months before that. In June 1990 the Department requested further information about when the claimant first approached her solicitors to arrange the transfer. Eventually a letter dated 2 October 1990 from a firm of solicitors confirmed that they were first approached about the transfer at the beginning of July 1989. 

4. On the basis of that information, the adjudication officer on 13 November 1990 decided that the claimant was no longer entitled to income support, because she had transferred the ownership of her property to her son and daughter in order to receive income support and so was treated as having a capital asset in excess of £8,000. Those were the terms of the letter dated 13 November 1990 sent to the claimant, and suggest that the decision was intended to operate from 13 November 1990. It is impossible to say whether they reflect the actual terms of the adjudication officer's decision, since the description of the decision on the first page of the form AT2 is that the claimant was not entitled to income support from 4 August 1989. 

5. The claimant appealed against the adjudication officer's decision. The adjudication officer's written submission on form AT2 was, in essence, that the claimant knew of the capital limits for income support because they were stated on the claim form which she signed on 22 June 1989 and that, since on the date of the transfer (which was clearly a deprivation of a capital resource) there was a strong possibility that she would never be able to return to                 , it was a reasonable inference that one of her purposes in making the transfer was to secure entitlement to income support. Therefore, regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 ("the Income Support Regulations") applied to treat her as still possessing                  and her capital exceeded £8,000. After a number of adjournments because the claimant's son was not available, a hearing of the appeal was fixed for 25 September 1991. The claimant and her son were notified of the date and time of the hearing in good time. The part of the form AT6 on which a claimant or representative could reply as to whether they intended to attend the hearing or not was not returned. Neither the claimant nor her son were present at the hearing. The presenting officer gave the following information, as recorded in the chairman's note of evidence: 

"[The claimant's son] told me after the last hearing that his mother did not technically own the flat but it was bought in her name. She had been the tenant of a house and was offered the chance of purchasing the property for the sum of £1000. She raised the purchase price with the aid of a bank loan but her sons and daughters made the repayments on their mother's loan because she couldn't afford to pay them herself, as she was separated and living apart from her husband. 

In 1972, she sold her house and bought a flat for the sum of £7000. It had always been verbally agreed that [the claimant's] flat should belong to her children. 

This flat was sold in Sept 1990 for the sum of £42,000 and the money was placed in an account from which her Nursing Home fees are paid." 

The presenting officer went on to submit that the claimant had deprived herself of the flat in order to claim income support, and drew attention to the fact that she had made previous claims for income support on moving temporarily into rest or nursing homes from 1987 to 1989. 

The appeal tribunal's decision 
6. The appeal tribunal disallowed the claimant's appeal and decided that the claimant was not entitled to income support "as at" 4 August 1989. Its findings of fact were recorded as follows: 

"In the appellant's absence, we accept as material facts the contents of paras 5.1 to 5.9 (inclusive) and 6.1 to 6.6 (inclusive) in Box 5 of the case papers (entitled "Summary of Facts") a copy of which has been sent to the appellant and/or her son." 

Its reasons for decision were recorded as follows: 

"The Tribunal find, on the balance of probability, that the appellant is caught by the provisions of Reg 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations, because she deprived herself of capital for the purpose of securing entitlement to Income Support and consequently falls to be treated as possessing capital in excess of £8,000. 

In reaching this conclusion, the Tribunal were unable to accept that the flat,                [...], did not belong, both in law and in equity, to the appellant. If the appellant's children (or any of them) had had an equitable interest in the property, then we consider it highly improbable that the Transfer Deed dated 4 August 1989 would have described the consideration as "by way of gift". And if they had had any interest in the house which the appellant purchased as a sitting tenant, we would have expected the flat to have been purchased in the name of all with a beneficial interest. 

As at the date of the Deed of Gift of the appellant's flat, she must have been aware of the Capital Rules for claiming Income Support, because she had signed an IS claim form on 22/6/89 which provided information about capital limits. It was therefore a foreseeable consequence of depriving herself of her flat, or the proceeds of sale thereof, that she would be without funds to provide the necessary care she was going to require if her stay at [the nursing home] became permanent." 

Subsequent proceedings 
7. The claimant's son applied on 8 November 1991 for the appeal tribunal's decision to be set aside on the ground that he had mistaken the time of the hearing and arrived too late to be heard. A social security appeal tribunal on 19 August 1992 refused the application, essentially because there had been earlier adjournments and the appeal tribunal considered that the claimant's son had been the author of his own misfortune. The claimant's son then applied in a letter dated 9 September 1992 for leave to appeal to the Social Security Commissioner. He explained more fully that he had assumed that the time of the hearing on 25 September 1991 was the same as that of the earlier adjourned hearing. When he discovered his mistake half an hour before the proper time for the hearing, he discovered that the building where the appeal tribunal was sitting could not be contacted by telephone, either by him or by the local office of the Department of Social Security. Leave was granted by the appeal tribunal chairman on 19 October 1992 and an appeal was lodged. 

8. There was then a needless diversion set off by the submission dated 15 February 1993 by the adjudication officer then concerned with the appeal. That took the clearly mistaken view that the claimant's appeal was against the appeal tribunal's determination dated 19 August 1992, refusing to set aside the decision of 25 September 1991. Regulation 12(3) of the Social Security (Adjudication) Regulations 1986 ("the Adjudication Regulations") prohibits appeals against such determinations. The submission went on to suggest that if the application for leave to appeal were to be treated as related to the decision of 25 September 1991 it was outside the time limit specified in paragraph 5 of Schedule 2 to the Adjudication Regulations, so that the appeal tribunal chairman had no jurisdiction under regulation 26 of the Adjudication Regulations to grant leave to appeal. That suggestion overlooked the provision in regulation 12(2) of the Adjudication Regulations that any day prior to the giving of notice of a determination under regulation 11 that an appeal tribunal's decision is not to be set aside is to be ignored in calculating any period specified in Schedule 2. Thus, there was a period of 42 days from 26 August 1992 (the date of notification of the determination not to set aside) in which to apply for leave to appeal against the appeal tribunal's decision of 25 September 1991. The application made on the claimant's behalf on 14 September 1992 was well within that limit and the appeal tribunal chairman had jurisdiction to rule on that application. Nevertheless, the claimant's then representative responded to the final suggestion of the adjudication officer in the submission dated 15 February 1993 that an application out of time for leave to appeal should be made to the Commissioner. That application was received on 26 April 1993 and was ruled on by a Commissioner on 30 September 1993. The Commissioner accepted the application for consideration for special reasons and granted leave to appeal. Although all the subsequent proceedings were based on this grant of leave, which was given without jurisdiction, rather than the proper grant of leave by the appeal tribunal chairman, in my view nothing turns on that. 

9. The adjudication officer made a detailed written submission dated 19 November 1993, which identified a number of errors of law. The claimant's representative made no observations on that submission. An oral hearing was directed, which took place on 10 May 1994. The claimant's son was present and the claimant was represented by Mr David Wilcox of the                              . The adjudication officer was represented by Miss Naomi Mallick of the Office of the Solicitor to the Department of Social Security, who had also made a helpful supplemental submission summarising the points she intended to make in oral argument. I am grateful to both representatives for their succinct, but penetrating, submissions. 

Was the appeal tribunal's decision erroneous in point of law? 
10. I have concluded that the appeal tribunal of 25 September 1991 did make a number of errors of law. In explaining that conclusion I shall deal with the points put forward under the headings used by Mr Wilcox, although not in quite the same order. 

(a) Natural justice 
11. Mr Wilcox indicated that he did not wish to rely on the contention that there was a breach of the principles of natural justice in the appeal tribunal having determined the appeal when the claimant's son had wished to attend the hearing and had failed to do so for the reasons explained in his letters. I consider that that approach was wise. Due notice of the date and time of the hearing had been given and the appeal tribunal had properly investigated whether there had been a reply that the claimant or her son would be attending the hearing. The appeal tribunal therefore had a discretion to proceed in the absence of the claimant or her son (Adjudication Regulations, regulation 4(3)), and there is nothing to suggest that it did not consider all the circumstances in exercising that discretion. There was thus no procedural impropriety and I do not think that the claimant's son can complain of any breach of the duty as part of the principles of natural justice to provide a fair opportunity for the claimant's case to be stated, even though his explanation of his reasons for not having attended may readily be accepted. The proper route by which to bring those matters to attention was the one actually taken, to apply for the appeal tribunal's decision to be set aside under regulation 11(1)(b) of the Adjudication Regulations. The appeal tribunal of 19 August 1992 refused that application, and that determination cannot be the subject of a direct appeal to the Commissioner (Adjudication Regulations, regulation 12(3)). I should add that there is a possibility that an appeal tribunal has power to reconsider a refusal of an application to set aside (on an analogy with the decision in CIS/93/1992) on the provision of further information by a party to the proceedings or a representative. That possibility is mentioned, but not ruled upon, in the decision of the Tribunal of Commissioners in CI/79/1990. 

(b) Review 
12. Mr Wilcox adopted the view put forward in the adjudication officer's submission dated 19 November 1993, that, since there was a subsisting award of income support to the claimant for an indefinite period, the adjudication officer's decision disentitling the claimant from 4 August 1989, confirmed by the appeal tribunal, could only operate by way of review and revision. Neither the adjudication officer nor the appeal tribunal identified a ground of review and that was, according to paragraph 15 of CSSB/540/1989 and other decisions, an error of law. Miss Mallick submitted that in the present case it was absolutely clear that there was a ground of review in the change of circumstances on 4 August 1989. The only issue was whether the claimant should be treated as possessing notional capital from that date and the appeal tribunal had dealt with that issue. She accepted that authority was against her, but submitted that an appeal tribunal should not be held to have erred in law in failing to deal with a point which could have made no difference to the result of the appeal. In reply, Mr Wilcox stressed that both an adjudication officer and an appeal tribunal need to be clear on the nature of the decision being made, because the burden of proof is different on review as compared to a decision on a claim. 

13. I accept Mr Wilcox's submission on this point. I do not think that I need to cite any additional authority. It is clear from paragraph 13 of CSSB/540/1989 that: 

"in general where it is shown that the adjudication officer has been asked to review or has decided to review an award of benefit in respect of the emergence of a relevant ground of review under section 104 [of the Social Security Act 1975] and has issued a decision altering the award of benefit in some respect, deficiencies in the form of his altered decision will not wholly vitiate his decision and can, if challenged, in general be corrected by a tribunal on appeal." 

Those words apply precisely to the present case. The appeal tribunal should have corrected the deficiencies of the adjudication officer's decision by giving proper consideration to the question of whether the adjudication officer had proved that a ground of review existed and that the revised decision should be that the claimant was not entitled to benefit. I consider that the difference in the placing of the burden of proof when the adjudication officer seeks to terminate or decrease the amount of entitlement under a subsisting award, as opposed to the burden on the claimant to make out a claim, is of fundamental importance, as was stressed so firmly by the then Chief Commissioner in R(I) 1/71. Where neither the adjudication officer nor the appeal tribunal has mentioned review and revision at all, any argument that the appeal tribunal's decision was not erroneous in law because its decision would not have been different if the proper approach had been taken cannot be admitted. 

(c) The period in issue 
14. The adjudication officer in the submission dated 19 November 1993 submitted that the period in issue before the appeal tribunal extended from 4 August 1989 down to the date of its decision. Yet the appeal tribunal appeared to consider only the position as at 4 August 1989, and in particular did not consider the possible application of the principle of diminishing notional capital down to the date of its decision. The adjudication officer referred to the Tribunal of Commissioners' decisions in CIS/85/1992, CIS/391/1992 and CIS/417/1992 and to R(S) 1/83 for the basic principles of adjudication on open-ended claims. He suggested that paragraph 39 of the Tribunal of Commissioners' decision in CIS/85/1992 was out of line with those principles in holding that the period in issue extended only to the date on which benefit is first disallowed, if that is earlier than the date on which the final decision is made. Mr Wilcox submitted that paragraph 39 of CIS/85/1992 did not carry that meaning and that the authorities were consistent, with two exceptions. The first was the decision of an individual Commissioner in CIS/649/1992, which was specifically rejected by another Tribunal of Commissioners in CSIS/40/1992, and should be rejected for the reasons given by the adjudication officer. The second was R(SB) 22/83. In paragraph 9 of that decision the Commissioner wrote: 

"In paragraph 1 I give the decision which the tribunal ought to have given. This is a decision on an open-ended claim refusing an allowance. On the analogy of comparable decisions under the Social Security Act I hold that in general such a decision is operative down to the date of the decision in question (whether of the benefit officer or of the appeal tribunal) on the analogy of what was held in Decision R(I) 8/68. Where, however, as in this case, a Commissioner's decision is the decision which the tribunal should have given, it operates as a refusal of benefit only down to the date of the decision of the tribunal appealed from..." 

Mr Wilcox submitted that that seemed to be inconsistent with the principles adopted in the more recent decisions and should be rejected. Miss Mallick suggested that paragraph 9 of R(SB) 22/83 is restricted to the situation where a Commissioner is giving the decision which an appeal tribunal should have given, based on the findings of fact made by the appeal tribunal. If what was said in R(SB) 22/83 was intended to have any wider application, it should be rejected as in conflict with R(S) 1/83. Otherwise she agreed with Mr Wilcox. 

15. On that general point, I accept Mr Wilcox's submissions, with the modification suggested by Miss Mallick. The recent series of Tribunal of Commissioners' decisions are consistent with each other and with R(S) 1/83. Paragraph 39 of CIS/85/1992 does not carry the meaning suggested by the adjudication officer in the submission dated 19 November 1993. Consequently, CIS/649/1992 cannot be followed. Each week within the period in issue must be considered and a conclusion that there is no entitlement in a particular week does not preclude a conclusion that there is entitlement in some subsequent week or weeks (see also my decision in CIS/267/1993). It would be very surprising if the author of R(SB) 22/83, who was a master of matters of procedure, had given a decision which was inconsistent with the principles of R(S) 1/83. At the time that the decision was given, a Commissioner's power under rule 10(8) of the Supplementary Benefit and Family Income Supplements (Appeals) Rules 1980 (as amended) where a supplementary benefit appeal tribunal had been found to have erred in law was restricted to referring the appeal to another appeal tribunal or to giving the decision which the appeal tribunal should have given. There was no power for a Commissioner to make findings of fact. In paragraph 13 of R(SB) 4/85, the Commissioner who decided R(SB) 22/83 explained the exception from the general principle set out in that case as related to the limited jurisdiction of the Commissioner in supplementary benefit cases. The powers of the Commissioner on appeal from social security appeal tribunals under section 23(7) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992 are no longer so restricted, but one option, under section 23(7)(a)(i), is to give the decision which the Commissioner considers the appeal tribunal should have given, if that can be done without making fresh or further findings of fact. I do not have to decide whether the exception in paragraph 9 of R(SB) 22/83 is limited: to the special situation of appeals from supplementary benefit appeal tribunals or has a continuing application where a Commissioner uses the power in section 23(7)(a)(i) of the 1992 Act (although the argument that, if a Commissioner has made no fresh or further findings of fact, there is nothing on which to base a decision extending beyond the date of the appeal tribunal's decision, is a very powerful one). Whatever the conclusion on that point, it does not limit the principle that when an appeal tribunal, either on direct appeal from an adjudication officer's decision or on a reference from a Commissioner, is making a final decision on the facts in a case stemming from an open-ended claim it must deal with the period in issue down to the date of its decision, unless the running of the open-ended claim has been terminated as explained in paragraph 11 of R(S) 1/83. 

16. At the oral hearing I raised a question which may have been a red herring, of whether the principles described above apply where the adjudication officer's decision under appeal is one to terminate entitlement under an award, which can only properly be done by review and revision. It had seemed to me that the Commissioners' decisions cited in paragraph 14 above were concerned with cases in which the decision under appeal was an initial decision made on a claim, and that there might be an argument that a different principle should apply to a review and revision. Both Mr Wilcox and Miss Mallick submitted that there should be no difference and that the considerations put forward in paragraph 9 of R(S) 1/83, of potential prejudice to a claimant who did not make a fresh claim while the final determination of an appeal was pending, applied just as strongly where the decision under appeal was one of review and revision as where it was an initial decision on the claim. I accept those submissions, which are in accord with the conclusion which I have reached in paragraph 13 of CIS/563/1993 (although I did not have the benefit of argument on the point in that case). It would be wrong to limit an appeal tribunal's decision either confirming or overturning an adjudication officer's decision to review and revise an award of benefit so as to terminate entitlement from a particular date to the position as at that date. 

17. However, since the oral hearing in the present case, I have noticed that the facts of the Tribunal of Commissioners' decision in CIS/391/1992 raised a review issue. The claimant there had been entitled to income support under an award for an indefinite period when the adjudication officer decided that income support was not payable from 15 March 1991 because his capital exceeded £8,000. The appeal tribunal failed to consider whether the adjudication officer had proved that there was a ground of review. The Commissioners stated very firmly in paragraph 10 of their decision that "the period in issue in this appeal runs from 15 March 1991 down to the date when the issues in this case are finally decided". In giving directions to the new appeal tribunal to which the appeal was referred, the Commissioners said (paragraph 47(2)): 

"The issue before the tribunal is whether the adjudication officer has shown (and the onus is on him) that from and including 15 March 1991 the claimant no longer satisfied the conditions for entitlement to the open-ended award of income support that he had previously been enjoying. If this is shown, the decision of the adjudication officer given on 29 April 1991 should be affirmed: see regulation 17(4) of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987. If it is not, the tribunal should allow the claimant's appeal and decide the award is not to be reviewed." 

That passage appears to direct attention particularly to the position as at 15 March 1991, but in paragraph 52 the Commissioners directed the new tribunal as follows:

"Unless a proper valuation is produced to the effect that the claimant's notional undivided share was, on 15 March 1991, or some later date, worth more than £8,000 the appeal against the adjudication officer's decision should be allowed and the award of benefit should not be reviewed but should be continued." [my underlining] 

That final passage seems to confirm that the Commissioners considered that all weeks in the period in issue (as defined in paragraph 10 of their decision) had to be dealt with by the new appeal tribunal, and not just the position as at 15 March 1991. The Commissioners recognise that if the conditions for review were not met as at 15 March 1991 they could be met at some later date. The Commissioners did not expressly state what was to be done if the conditions for review were met as at 15 March 1991, but the evidence showed that the claimant would be entitled to income support in some later week within the period in issue. However, parity of treatment and elementary fairness requires that, if a decision confirming the termination of entitlement on review is to be given an effect beyond the operative date of the review, the decision should be able to award benefit for any weeks within the period of entitlement in which the conditions of entitlement were met. I consider, therefore, that the decision of the Tribunal of Commissioners supports the conclusion which I had reached independently and is expressed in paragraph 16 above. 

(d) Beneficial ownership and proprietary estoppel 
18. In paragraphs 13 to 15 of the adjudication officer's submission dated 19 November 1993 it was submitted that the appeal tribunal erred in law in not calling for the document or documents by virtue of which                     was acquired or which otherwise declared the beneficial interest in the property (as required by paragraph 35 of CIS/391/1992) and in concluding that the claimant was the beneficial owner, in the light of the doctrine of proprietary estoppel. Miss Mallick in her supplemental submission resiled from those submissions and argued that the appeal tribunal was entitled to come to a decision on the evidence before it and to conclude that the claimant had not discharged the burden of showing that the beneficial ownership of                    did not follow the legal ownership. There was no evidence before the appeal tribunal to suggest that the doctrine of proprietary estoppel might be relevant. Mr Wilcox concurred with Miss Mallick's submission, on the basis that in the absence of evidence from the claimant about a link between                  and the previously owned house it could not be concluded that any of the claimant's children had acted to their detriment in reliance on a promise or assurance about the ownership of                    . 

19. This would have been a troublesome point if no other errors of law had been apparent in the appeal tribunal's decision. Ideally the appeal tribunal would have been able to consider the documents by which the claimant acquired               and any documents relating to the acquisition and disposal of the previously owned house and to hear evidence from the claimant or members of her family as to intentions or promises about the beneficial ownership of the properties. However, there had already been several adjournments and it is now accepted that the appeal tribunal did not breach the principles of natural justice or the Adjudication Regulations by determining the appeal in the absence of the claimant and her son. There must be a point, even in an inquisitorial jurisdiction, where an adjudicating authority must come to a decision on the evidence before it. Then if there are deficiencies in the evidence relating to a particular matter that makes it harder for the party who has the burden of proving that matter to discharge the burden. I incline to the view that that was the situation in the present case, although I prefer not to express a definite conclusion. I agree that there was not sufficient evidence before the appeal tribunal to raise the possibility that the doctrine of proprietary estoppel might apply. However, I cannot agree that as a result the appeal tribunal was right to conclude that the claimant was sole beneficial, as well as legal, owner of             . The appeal tribunal gave insufficient consideration to the resulting trust that arises when a person other than the legal owner of a property contributes to the purchase price of the property, as by meeting repayments on a loan used for the purchase. I consider that the appeal tribunal also erred in law in the weight it gave to the description in the Transfer dated 4 August 1989 of the consideration for the transfer of             from the claimant to her son and daughter as natural love and affection. In contrast, it gave no attention to the fact that printed words were deleted so that the claimant did not make the transfer of                   as beneficial owner. I return to these legal points in more detail in my directions to the new appeal tribunal which must rehear the appeal. 

(e) Knowledge of the capital limits 
20. In paragraph 21 of the submission dated 19 November 1993 the adjudication officer submitted that the appeal tribunal applied a false proposition in assuming that the existence of information on the claim form signed by the claimant necessarily meant that she was aware of the existence of a capital limit. In her supplementary submission Miss Mallick resiled from that position and submitted that the appeal tribunal was entitled on all the evidence to conclude that the claimant did know of the capital limits for income support. At the oral hearing Mr Wilcox supported the approach of the submission dated 19 November 1993. He pointed out that the claimant was partially sighted and that it was apparent that the claimant did not fill in the form signed on 22 June 1989, but merely signed the box at the end. Therefore, he said, it was not possible to infer actual knowledge of the capital limits (as required by R(SB) 12/91 if regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations (deprivation of capital) is to be invoked) from the signing of the claim form on 22 June 1989, and the appeal tribunal relied on no other evidence. Miss Mallick submitted that the appeal tribunal had considered the signing of the claim form as one part of the evidence and reached a conclusion of fact based on all the evidence. My reading of the appeal tribunal's reasons for decision is that it relied entirely on the signing of the claim form, or at the very least failed to explain what weight it gave to any other evidence of the claimant's knowledge. Therefore, I agree with Mr Wilcox that the appeal tribunal erred in law in coming to its conclusion on this point. 

(f) Valuation of capital 
21. All the submissions concurred that the appeal tribunal erred in law in failing to make any findings of fact on which to base a calculation of the value of                   , which it treated the claimant as still possessing under regulation 51 (1) of the Income Support Regulations and in failing to state a conclusion as to the value. I agree. Although it may have been obvious that the market value of                 , less the 10% fixed by regulation 49(a) of the Income Support Regulations, some findings of fact were required, as was a conclusion on the value, in order that the diminishing notional capital rule under R(IS) 1/91 and regulation 51A of the Income Support Regulations. 

(g) Disregards of capital 
22. Regulation 51 (6) of the Income Support Regulations provides:

"(6) Where a claimant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs (1) to (4), the foregoing provisions of this Chapter shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess." 

It was common ground that an effect of this provision is that the disregards in Schedule 10 of the Income Support Regulations can apply to notional capital created by regulation 51(1), so that the claimant is only treated as possessing capital in so far as not disregarded. That general principle is established by CIS/25/1990, CIS/81/1991 and CIS/562/1992. Therefore, the appeal tribunal should at least have considered whether as at 4 August 1989 and in following weeks                was the dwelling occupied as the claimant's home and so to be disregarded under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10. In general, a claimant will be said still to be normally occupying a dwelling as a home through temporary absences. In order to determine whether an absence has ceased to be temporary, findings about the claimant's intentions and the objective chances of return are essential. The appeal tribunal did not deal with the evidence on any of those matters. 

23. Mr Wilcox also submitted that from the date on which               was put up for sale, there could also be a disregard under paragraph 26 of Schedule 10, which applies to: 

"Any premises where the claimant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises." 

The question of whether paragraph 26 can apply to notional capital under regulation 51 (1) was the central question discussed in the oral hearing before me. In the submission dated 19 November 1993 the adjudication officer submitted that CIS/25/1990 was wrongly decided in so far as it answered that question in the affirmative. That was because paragraph 26 only applies where the claimant is taking steps to dispose of premises and if the claimant has already disposed of the premises (so as to trigger regulation 51 (1)) any subsequent steps cannot be taken by the claimant. Mr Wilcox submitted that it would be anomalous and illogical if only paragraph 26 out of all the provisions in Schedule 10 could not, because of its precise terms, be applied to notional capital. He argued that the word "claimant" in paragraph 26 should be taken to include the actual possessor of premises which the claimant is deemed to possess by virtue of regulation 51(1). Then the disregard would apply once the actual possessor took steps to dispose of the premises, and continue to apply for 26 weeks plus such longer period as is reasonable having regard to all the circumstances of both the claimant and the actual possessor of the premises. From whatever date the disregard ceased to apply, the diminishing notional capital principle would apply, as determined in paragraph 16 of R(SB) 9/91. Mr Wilcox submitted that that result would fulfil the intention of the disregard in paragraph 26, that the premises would have to be sold so that the proceeds of sale would become available for the support of the claimant, but that a reasonable period should be allowed for the sale to be carried out. He said that the contrary result would impose an additional penalty on a claimant who was deemed to possess notional capital. He referred to the Commissioners' decisions in CIS 25/1990, CIS/81/1991 and CIS/562/1992, in all of which it was held that a claimant could invoke the benefit of paragraph 26 notwithstanding that she had divested herself of the relevant premises. The latter two decisions also expressly differed from a decision to the contrary by the Chief Commissioner in Northern Ireland (C70/91(IS), reported as R1/92(IS)). He submitted that although I was not bound to follow those three decisions, since they were not given after full or considered argument, they expressed the right result. 

24. In reply, Miss Mallick submitted that the words used in paragraph 26 of Schedule 10 were plain and unambiguous, with the effect that the disregard can only apply where it is the claimant who is taking steps to dispose of the premises. There is a significant difference in the drafting from the supplementary benefit provision in regulation 6(1)(a)(iii) of the Supplementary Benefit (Resources) Regulations 1981, which was considered in R(SB) 9/91. She accepted that a consequence of that was that paragraph 26 could never apply to notional capital, but submitted that that did not give rise to any inconsistency. Schedule 10 was drafted with actual capital in mind. Its application to notional capital is secondary, and any of its provisions can apply providing that their conditions are met. The fact that in the case of paragraph 26 the conditions cannot be met where the claimant is treated as still possessing premises by virtue of regulation 51(1) shows no illogicality. Miss Mallick submitted that the result reached in the Northern Ireland decision R1/92(IS) was to be preferred to that reached in CIS/25/1990, CIS/81/1991 and CIS/562/1992. She also pointed to an inconsistency between paragraph 4 of CIS/562/1992 and paragraph 8, which she suggested supported her position. If she was wrong about the words being plain and unambiguous, she submitted that the policy behind paragraph 26 was to allow the claimant alone time to liquidate assets to provide money to live on. Where the claimant had put it out of her power to liquidate the asset, there could be no policy reason to delay the counting of the notional capital while a third party liquidated the asset, because there could be no guarantee that the third party would allow the proceeds to be used for the support of the claimant. Indeed it would be absurd to make the claimant's entitlement to income support depend on the actions taken by a third party. She submitted that the effect of her interpretation was not to impose an additional penalty on a claimant with notional capital. The whole of Schedule 10 was a relaxation of the general rule that all actual and notional capital had to be counted. It was simply that a claimant with notional capital could not take advantage of the relaxation in paragraph 26. 

25. I accept Miss Mallick's submission. In my view, the words of paragraph 26 of Schedule 10 are plain and unambiguous and admit of no meaning other than that its application is restricted to cases where the claimant (ie the person claiming income support, plus any member of the family as defined for income support purposes) is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the premises in question. I accept that the effect of regulation 51(6) of the Income Support Regulations is that capital which a claimant is to be treated as possessing by virtue of regulation 51(1) is to be calculated as if it were actual capital and is therefore subject to the disregards set out in Schedule 10. However, that does not provide any authority to alter or add to unambiguous provisions of Schedule 10. In the case of all the paragraphs of Schedule 10, they can only apply where their conditions are met. In the case of paragraph 26, its conditions cannot be met where a claimant is treated as possessing notional capital which she has actually disposed of, because she then cannot be taking steps to dispose of what she has already disposed of. If that result is thought to be unfair or not to reflect the way in which notional capital ought to be treated, then the remedy is for the Income Support Regulations to be amended. 

26. Since I am taking a different view from that adopted in some other decisions of individual Commissioners, I should say something about the existing case-law. In R(SB) 9/91, the claimant had transferred the beneficial interest in premises to her two daughters three weeks before going into a nursing home. The Commissioner held that she had to be treated as still possessing the premises by virtue of regulation 4(1) of the Supplementary Benefit (Resources) Regulations 1981, but also decided that the value of the premises continued to be disregarded until the premises were sold some nine months later. Regulation 6(1)(a)(iii) of those regulations provided for the disregard of the value of: 

"(iii) any premises which are for sale and the value of which it would be reasonable in the circumstances to disregard for such period as the adjudication officer may estimate as that during which the sale may be completed" 

Thus, the disregard applied whenever the premises were up for sale, regardless of who had put them up for sale or was continuing the sale. There was also a general discretion to consider whether it was reasonable to disregard the value in calculating the claimant's capital resources. That provision was therefore significantly different from paragraph 26 of Schedule 10, and I gain no assistance on the particular point before me from the decision in R(SB) 9/91. 

27. In CIS/25/1990, the claimant and his wife, then both in their late 70s, had transferred the freehold of their home to their son and daughter the day after they had become entitled to income support. About a year later they went into a nursing home. When it became certain that they would not be able to return to the home it was put up for sale and sold within six months. The appeal tribunal had refused to allow a disregard under paragraph 26, because the claimant and his wife were not in a position to take any steps to dispose of the home. The Commissioner said, in paragraph 12: 

"I reject that approach on the part of the tribunal. On the basis that the claimant and his wife were regarded as caught by regulation 51 (1), they must be treated as still in possession of the property, and if they were in possession of it, they were at liberty to dispose of it, and they were entitled to the relaxation conferred by paragraph 26." 

There had apparently been no argument on the construction of paragraph 26 in the oral hearing before the Commissioner, since he refers to none. I observe that the Commissioner's conclusion was expressed rather generally and not with specific reference to the precise words of paragraph 26. 

28. The decision of the Chief Commissioner in Northern Ireland in Rl/92(IS) was given about three months after that in CIS/25/1990, and apparently in ignorance of that decision. The claimant had transferred her former home to grandchildren. The property was put on the market two months later and sold in 13 months. The appeal tribunal had disregarded the value of the premises under paragraph 26 from the date on which they were put on the market. The Chief Commissioner held that that was an error of law and said, in paragraph 8: 

"The claimant, having transferred her house to her grandchildren on 24 January 1990, could not take advantage of the provisions of paragraph 26 of Schedule 10 to the 1987 Regulations. Those provisions could only benefit a claimant who was taking reasonable steps to dispose of premises. They could not apply where disposal had already taken place." 

29. In CIS/81/1991, the Commissioner, after hearing argument from legally qualified representatives, said this about whether the Schedule 10 disregards apply in relation to notional capital as well as actual capital: 

"That matter has been briefly considered in two recent decisions. In CIS/25/1990 the Commissioner, who heard no argument on the point, simply assumed that the claimant in that case was entitled to the benefit of the paragraph 26 disregard in respect of notional capital. But in a later decision, C70/91 (IS), the Chief Commissioner of Northern Ireland took the view that the tribunal in that case had been wrong to decide that the claimant was entitled, again under paragraph 26, to disregard the house which had been transferred to grandchildren for the purpose of obtaining benefit and which was accordingly to be treated as a property of which the claimant was still possessed. The Chief Commissioner appeared to regard it as self-evident that there could be no entitlement to a disregard in respect of notional capital. Now regulation 51(6) of the Income Support Regulations provides that where a claimant is treated as possessing capital (i.e. notional capital) "...the foregoing provisions of this Chapter shall apply for the purpose of calculating its amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess". The disregards are provided for by regulation 46(2) which brings in Schedule 10 and as regulation 46 is among "the foregoing provisions of this Chapter" it seems quite plain to me that that provision applies to the calculation of all capital whether actual or notional. In my view CIS/25/1990 is correctly decided on that point. Of course it may well be that, in relation to notional capital, a claimant would have difficulty in establishing that the facts fitted any particular paragraph of Schedule 10. " 

The conclusion in that passage that Schedule 10 as a whole applies to notional capital cannot be doubted. Indeed, the Commissioner was wrong to suggest that the decision of the Chief Commissioner in Northern Ireland was to the contrary, for it is clear that the decision in Rl/92(IS) was limited to the terms of paragraph 26 of Schedule 10 and did not cast any doubt on the general application of Schedule 10 to notional capital. Particularly in view of the final sentence of the passage from CIS/81/1991 quoted above, the Commissioner who gave that decision cannot be taken as having expressed any opinion about the applicability of paragraph 26, as opposed to the rest of Schedule 10, to notional capital. 

30. CIS/562/1992 was decided by the same Commissioner who had decided CIS/25/1990. The facts were complicated. The claimant owned a shop with living accommodation above, which for several years he had been intending to sell once essential repairs had been carried out. He transferred the property to his son while in receipt of income support. About two years later he received the property back from his son. A subsequent claim for income support was disallowed because his capital exceeded the prescribed amount. The issue to be determined in the appeal was whether on that claim the value of the property was to be disregarded under paragraph 26 of Schedule 10. In paragraph 4 of the decision, the Commissioner said: 

"It was also accepted, and rightly so, that it was open to the claimant to invoke the benefit of paragraph 26 (assuming he could satisfy its provisions) notwithstanding that he had, for the purpose of claiming income support, divested himself of the relevant property. For [he] had to be treated under regulation 51(1) as still possessed thereof (see CIS/025/1990, paragraph 12; R(SB) 9/91, paragraph 15; the Northern Ireland decision R1/92(IS) fails to address the necessary consequences flowing from the claimant's having to be treated as still in possession of the relevant capital)." 

The claimant argued that the period during which the property was in the ownership of his son should not count against the period of 26 weeks or some further reasonable period for which the paragraph 26 disregard could endure. The Commissioner rejected that argument, and it was in that context that he said, in paragraph 8: 

"It must be remembered that the starting point is that, where a claimant has property of a value in excess of the statutory limit, he will be disentitled to income support. The severity of this provision is relaxed by paragraph 26, and time will be given to liquidate the property, but only if the claimant complies with the conditions there prescribed. He must take reasonable steps to dispose of the premises, and he must achieve a sale within the specified time of 26 weeks, subject to reasonable extension, but if he does not take reasonable steps, then he cannot invoke the protection. If in the present case, the claimant, by transferring the property to his son, had put it out of his power to take reasonable steps for the disposal of the property and no such steps were taken, then he would have brought this situation upon himself by his own voluntary act, and simply deprived himself of the benefit of paragraph 26. Accordingly, I consider that time ran during the period of the son's ownership." 

I am not sure that there is an inconsistency between those two passages, as Miss Mallick submitted. The second passage suggests that the claimant would have deprived himself of the benefit of paragraph 26 by putting it out of his power to take reasonable steps to dispose of the property only where in addition no such steps were taken. That seems to assume that the steps could be taken by someone other than the claimant. Of the authority relied on by the Commissioner, I consider that R(SB) 9/91 did not in fact support his specific conclusion, because of the differences in the legislation which I have noted in paragraph 26 above. In CIS/25/1990, the point was largely assumed. The Commissioner does not specify what are the necessary consequences of a claimant being treated as still possessing capital which has been disposed of, which he considered the decision in R1/91(IS) to have failed to address. I do not myself see how treating a claimant as still possessing capital which has been disposed of and calculating that capital as if it were actual capital necessarily entails that the plain and unambiguous words of paragraph 26 should be given some extended meaning. Indeed, in CIS/562/1992 itself the Commissioner stresses that a claimant can only invoke the protection of paragraph 26 if he satisfies its conditions. Since the point on the application of paragraph 26 to notional capital did not arise directly for decision in CIS/562/1992, I do not consider the discussion in that case as in any way conclusive. 

31. In my judgment, the only one of the British decisions in which the question of the application of paragraph 26 to notional capital was central to the determination of the appeal is CIS/25/1990, and in that case the matter was not argued out in any detail. I do not consider that any of the authorities lay down a principle which I have an obligation to follow under the principles of R(I) 12/75. The decision of the Chief Commissioner in Northern Ireland in R1/92(IS) is of persuasive authority only, and is itself rather briefly expressed. If I had taken a different view of the law, that decision would not have been an obstacle to giving effect to that view. As it is, I have come to the conclusion expressed in paragraph 25 on the arguments presented to me and my own examination of the legislation. The appeal tribunal in the present case did not err in law in failing to consider paragraph 26 of Schedule 10. 

32. For the reasons given above, the decision of the appeal tribunal dated 25 September 1991 must be set aside as erroneous in point of law. Since many additional findings of fact are necessary, I must refer the case to a differently constituted social security appeal tribunal for determination in accordance with the directions given below. 

Directions to the new appeal tribunal 
33. The new appeal tribunal must approach the questions of review and revision and of the period in issue as set out in paragraphs 12 to 17 above. I envisage that there will be little difficulty in concluding that the adjudication officer has proved that a ground of review exists, since the transfer of                   by the claimant to her son and daughter on 4 August 1989 can hardly be said not to be a relevant change of circumstances within section 104(1)(b) of the Social Security Act 1975 (section 25(1)(b) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992). It was a change which would call for serious consideration in determining the claimant's continuing entitlement to income support. However, the question of whether, and if so how, the decision awarding income support should be revised will require very careful consideration. Where it is being contended by the adjudication officer that the effect of the change is to terminate or reduce the claimant's entitlement to income support for some weeks within the period in issue the burden is on him to prove what the revised decision on review should be (CIS/427/1991). 

34. In considering whether the decision awarding the claimant income support for an indefinite period should be revised, the first question will be whether regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations applies to the transfer of 4 August 1989 so as to treat the claimant as still possessing the capital represented by her beneficial interest in               . There must be a finding of fact as to whether or not the claimant deprived herself of capital. That will involve determining the nature of the claimant's beneficial interest. At the oral hearing, Mr Wilcox gave some further details of the background to the purchase of                . He said that in 1958 the claimant bought in her sole name the house of which she was then the tenant. She obtained a mortgage loan from a bank to meet the purchase price. Her brother guaranteed the loan. It was agreed that her five children would make the repayments on the loan to the bank. As only four of the children were then old enough to be in remunerative work, those four met the initial repayments. In 1973, the house was sold for £9,000. The proceeds were used to buy                 outright (for about £7,300) and to meet the costs of moving, decorating, furnishing etc. 

35. On the assumption that that description is correct (which will have to be investigated carefully by the new appeal tribunal) the direct contributions of the claimant's children to the purchase price of the house bought in 1958 would have created a resulting trust in their favour, which, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, would divide the beneficial interest in the house in proportion to their and the claimant's contributions to the purchase price. If, for instance, the claimant had, as a sitting tenant, received a discount on the market price of the house, that discount would have to be treated as a direct contribution to the purchase price (Springette v Defoe (1992) 24 Housing Law Reports 552). The claimant would then have held the house as legal owner on trust for the beneficiaries of the resulting trust in relation to the part of the beneficial interest not held by her. The principles are conveniently set out in pages 260 to 271 of Hanbury and Martin, Modern Equity (14th edition, 1993). The discussion there is in relation to property bought for joint occupation by married and unmarried couples, but the underlying principles of resulting trusts arising from contributions to the purchase price are not restricted to that situation. Without in any way restricting the new appeal tribunal as to their investigation of the current principles of the law of trusts, it may help if I summarise some of the main points. The creation of a resulting trust in the way described above does not rest on any prior agreement or promise or assurance as to what is to happen to the beneficial interest, but is created by the fact of the direct contributions to the purchase price. However, the resulting trust rests on a presumption, which is rebutted by proof of the true intentions of those who provided the purchase price. An express declaration of trust by those who might otherwise have a beneficial interest by resulting trust will be conclusive (Pettit v Pettit [1970] AC 777, 813 and Goodman v Gallant [1986] Fam 106, 115-9, cited in paragraph 36 of CIS/391/1992). Declarations of trust in documents not signed by such beneficiaries will be evidence of true intentions, whose weight will vary according to how far they were inserted with those beneficiaries' consent. Otherwise, the kind of evidence which can establish the true intentions of the parties at the time that the property in question is purchased will depend on the circumstances of each particular case. The evidence may prove that there was no resulting trust at all (for instance, if those who contributed to the purchase price intended to make a gift of the contributions) or that the beneficial interests under the trust were different from those created by the presumption. If there was a resulting trust created in relation to the house bought in 1958, then on the sale of the house the resulting trust would transfer to the proceeds of sale and to                   when it was purchased with the proceeds of sale. 

36. If beneficial interests were created by a resulting trust one would not necessarily expect any mention of that to be made in the documents by which                    was acquired, although, as explained above, if there was some express declaration of the beneficial interest that would be a relevant and possibly conclusive factor. The requirement of section 53(1)(b) of the Law of Property Act 1925 that "a declaration of trust respecting any land or any interest therein must be manifested and proved by some writing signed by some person who is able to declare such trust or by his will" does not affect the creation or operation of resulting, implied or constructive trusts (Law of Property Act 1925, section 53(2)). Nor, if the claimant had either no or only a share in the beneficial interest in                  , would it be inconsistent with that situation for her to execute a transfer of                    in consideration of natural love and affection for her son and daughter. In either case, the claimant's legal ownership would at least have to be transferred. I have already drawn attention to the fact that the claimant did not make the transfer as beneficial owner, although that factor may be of little weight since some conveyancers consider that such a declaration is unnecessary when registered land is being transferred. The new appeal tribunal must investigate most carefully whether it has been proved that the circumstances existed in which the presumption of a resulting trust arose and, if so, what its terms were. I consider that, although the burden is on the adjudication officer under regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations and the principles of review and revision to prove that the claimant deprived herself of capital, once it is shown that the claimant was the legal owner of a capital asset, the burden then falls on her to prove (on the balance of probabilities) that she did not have any or all of the beneficial interest in that asset. The claimant's representatives must therefore consider the evidence which should be produced to the new appeal tribunal as to the contributions to the purchase price of the house bought in 1958 which were actually made and as to the true intentions of all parties at the time of the purchase. Any evidence which came into being close to the time of the purchase or which was not recorded for the purposes of the present appeal will no doubt be especially valuable, if it exists. 

37. If the conclusion is that the claimant had no beneficial interest at all in                   , then her transfer of the bare legal ownership cannot amount to a deprivation of capital under regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations. If the conclusion is that the claimant had the entire beneficial interest, then there clearly was a deprivation of capital. If the conclusion is that the claimant had some share of the beneficial interest, there will have been a deprivation of capital, but there will be a difficult additional question of the interaction of regulation 52 of the Income Support Regulations (dealing with shared beneficial interests) and regulation 51(7), which provides: 

"(7) For the avoidance of doubt a claimant is to be treated as possessing capital under paragraph (1) only if the capital of which he has deprived himself is actual capital." 

If a claimant has been deemed to possess an equal share of the beneficial interest as a tenant in common under regulation 52, does the sale of the actual beneficial interest amount to the deprivation of actual capital? I leave that question to be answered if it arises on the facts found by the new appeal tribunal. 

38. If the new appeal tribunal concludes that the claimant deprived herself of capital by the transfer of 4 August 1989 it must then consider whether that was for the purpose of securing entitlement to income support or increasing the amount of that benefit. It is an essential precondition of concluding that that was a claimant's purpose for the adjudication officer to prove that the claimant actually knew of the capital limits for entitlement to income support (CIS/124/1990 and R(SB) 12/91). The new appeal tribunal must come to a definite conclusion on this question, having considered all the relevant circumstances. It is not enough to record assumptions based on previous receipt of income support or the mere signing of a claim form, but the question of what weight of evidence might satisfy it that the claimant did on 4 August 1989 know of the capital limits is entirely a matter for the new appeal tribunal. Secondly, the adjudication officer must prove that the claimant had a positive intention to secure or increase the amount of entitlement to income support (paragraph 8 of R(SB) 9/91). It is not enough to show that such a result was a foreseeable consequence of the transfer, but the intention to secure or increase the amount of entitlement need not be the claimant's predominant motive. The new appeal tribunal will need to investigate carefully what were the claimant's, as opposed to her family's or her advisers', purposes in making the transfer. All the circumstances must be considered, but among the relevant factors will be whether or not the claimant believed as at 4 August 1989 that she had any beneficial interest in             (regardless of the actual position in law and equity) and whether she thought that the value of                 would continue to be disregarded in the calculation of capital. If she foresaw that it would continue to be her home, then she might have considered that its disposal would not affect her entitlement to income support. On the other hand, it must also be asked why she decided to make the transfer when she did, and whether she was anticipating that she might no longer be able to live at                   as her home. 

39. If the new appeal tribunal concludes that the claimant is to be treated under regulation 51 (1) and (6) as still possessing actual capital in the form of a beneficial interest in               , it should next consider whether that capital falls to be disregarded under Schedule 10 to the Income Support Regulations. It should consider whether, as explained in paragraph 22 above, for any period from 4 August 1989 onwards                  was the dwelling normally occupied by the claimant as her home and so to be disregarded under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10. The new appeal tribunal must make the necessary findings of fact, both about the claimant's intentions as to returning from the nursing home to                 and about the objective probabilities of such a return. The question of when the property was put up for sale by the claimant's son may be relevant to this issue. If and so long as the paragraph 1 disregard applies, the adjudication officer will not have proved that the claimant's existing award of income support should be revised following the change of circumstances on 4 August 1989. When that paragraph ceases to apply, the new appeal tribunal may not, as I have concluded in paragraph 25 above, apply the paragraph 26 disregard (claimant taking reasonable steps to dispose of premises) to the capital which the claimant is treated as possessing by virtue of regulation 51(1). No other disregard appears to be applicable, although of course the new appeal tribunal must consider any provision which has relevance in the light of the evidence presented to it. Thus, in the circumstances presently being assumed, the claimant will have some capital arising from the transfer of                 which is to be brought into account together with any other capital. In order to determine whether the amount of that capital requires a revision of the claimant's award of income support, the new appeal tribunal must properly calculate the value of the capital under regulations 49, 51A (diminishing notional capital) and (if applicable) 52 of the Income Support Regulations. For any period prior to the introduction of regulation 51A on 1 October 1990, the diminishing notional capital rule as determined in R(IS) 1/91 must be applied. If regulation 52 is applied, the new appeal tribunal must follow the guidance as to valuation given by the Tribunal of Commissioners in CIS/391/1992 and CIS/417/1992. 

Conclusion 
40. The claimant's appeal is allowed. 

(Signed) J Mesher 
Commissioner 
Date: 18 July 1994

 

